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You are invited to submit proposals in accordance with the requirements of this 
solicitation, which are contained herein.   Please review all pages carefully to assure clear 
understanding. 
 
Proposals are to be submitted to Arkansas Tech University, Office of Procurement and 
Risk Management Services no later than 4:00 p.m. local time, Friday, September 23, 
2016. 
 
Questions concerning this solicitation should be referred to Jessica Holloway, Director of 
Procurement and Risk Management Services at jholloway@atu.edu . 
 
This solicitation does not commit Arkansas Tech University to award a contract, to pay 
any costs incurred in the preparation of a proposal, to procure or contract for the articles 
of goods or services.  Arkansas Tech University reserves the right to accept or reject any 
or all proposals received as a result of this request or to cancel in part or in its entirety 
this proposal if it is deemed in the best interest of Arkansas Tech University to do so. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Arkansas Tech University is a state university established in 1909 with programs at the technical 
certification, associate, baccalaureate and graduate levels.  The University has three campuses.  
The main campus is in Russellville, Arkansas, a second campus in Ozark, Arkansas and the 
Arkansas Tech Career Center also located in Russellville. 
 
Arkansas Tech is home to more than 12,000 students, which makes it one of the three largest 
universities in the State of Arkansas.  Arkansas Tech has been named one of the 10 fastest-
growing public master’s degree-granting universities in the United States by The Chronicle of 
Higher Education two consecutive years, and is the fastest growing public university in the State 
of Arkansas.  
 
Fall 2015 marked the 17th consecutive record enrollment for Arkansas Tech and the first time 
that enrollment at the institution exceeded 12,000.  
 
Arkansas Tech offers more than 100 programs of study, including the five most popular among 
college freshmen --- business, engineering, the physical and biological sciences, the social 
sciences and teacher education. Pre-professional programs prepare Tech students to become 
doctors, dentists, lawyers, pharmacists, physical therapists and veterinarians.  
 
The Ozark Campus offers 29 of Tech’s technical certificate and associate’s degree programs with 
a focus on workforce education and partnership with over 300 industry partners in the region.  
ATCC serves high school students, provides concurrent credit to 17 school districts and educates 
approximately 650 students in 8 programs of study.  Enrollment for the Ozark Campus includes 
2100 students over the three campuses of Arkansas Tech. 
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1. INTRODUCTION.  Arkansas Tech University is issuing this Request for Proposal 
(“RFP”) for credit card processing services for Arkansas Tech University.  
 
2.  TERM.  The required services are to commence (TBD), and unless terminated sooner, 
shall continue in force for an initial period of one (1) year with the option to renew up to 
six (6) additional years not to exceed a seven (7) year maximum term, in accordance with 
the original terms of the contract upon mutual agreement in writing. 
 
3. STANDARD OF PERFORMANCE.  The Vendor shall perform according to the 
terms and conditions as stated herein, and according to the highest standards and 
commercial practices of providing banking services.  Instances of poor performance by 
the Vendor will be documented and submitted to the Vendor for immediate review and 
corrective action.  Continued poor performance will be deemed a breach of the 
specifications of the RFP and shall be grounds for immediate termination of the contract.  
A review meeting will be held between the Vendor and the University when documented 
instances of poor performance occur and a plan for corrective action agreeable to both 
parties will be drafted and implemented.  The University retains the absolute right to 
assess whether and when performance is subsequently acceptable.  
 
4. TERMINATION AND ASSIGNMENT.  The contract awarded in response to this 
RFP may be terminated by either party by giving the other not less than 180 days written 
notice of intent to terminate as of the date specified.  If the contract is terminated for any 
reason the Vendor must continue operation until the University is able to secure 
continued operations; provided this period shall not exceed six (6) months from the 
effective date of termination.   
 
The contract will not be assignable without prior written consent of the University and 
the Vendor.  Any attempted assignment without such consent shall be void and of no 
effect. 
 
If the Vendor receiving the award for the contract is subsequently purchased by another 
Vendor, this will be considered an act of assignment and the University will have the 
option to accept the assignment or terminate the contract with 180 days written notice.  
The assignment Vendor must offer same or equivalent services as contract stipulates. 
 
5. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATOR/INQUIRIES.  The contract administrator and 
liaison for all matters concerning this contract is Jessica Holloway, Director of 
Procurement Services.   Inquiries related to the RFP should be directed to the attention of 
Jessica Holloway, Director of Procurement Services via email at jholloway@atu.edu in 
sufficient time to allow a reply to all prospective proposers prior to opening date.  Any 
clarification given to a prospective proposer will be furnished in writing to all prospective 
proposers as an amendment, if such information modifies these specifications or is 
deemed to be necessary for responding to this RFP. 
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6. OPENING DATE.  Sealed, written, competitive proposals will be received until 4:00 
p.m. local time in the Office of Procurement Services on Friday, September 23, 2016 
at Young Building, Suite 101, Russellville, AR 72801.  Vendors who choose to 
submit their proposal via mail are cautioned that proposals must reach the Office of 
Procurement Services by this designated date and time.  All proposals must be 
executed by an authorized officer of the proposer and must be held firm for acceptance 
for a minimum period of 90 days after the opening date.  Proposers are cautioned that 
only written information contained in the RFP (including amendments) is to be relied 
upon in preparation of a proposal.  The proposer is required to submit an original and 
three (3) electronic copies (preferably flash drive) of the proposal to the University.   
 
7. FORMAL PRESENTATIONS.  The University reserves the right to require 
proposers to make a formal presentation to an evaluation committee.  Presentations will 
be limited to no more than one hour.     
 
8. PROPOSAL FORMAT.  Each proposer must submit their proposal in the specified 
format, but may also propose alternatives to the University as additions to the base 
proposal.  Such additional offerings should be clearly identified.  The University prefers 
proposers respond to this RFP using the titles and sequence numbers specified herein for 
reference.    
 
9. AWARD.  The University reserves the right to reject any or all proposals, or any 
portion thereof, and readvertise if deemed necessary.  Awards will be made to the 
proposer whose proposal conforms to the RFP and, in the sole judgement of the 
University, will be the most advantageous to the University. 
 
10. CONTRACT GOVERNANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION.  The contract will 
incorporate the contents of the RFP as well as any negotiated terms and conditions. 
Vendors should note the following regarding the State’s contracting authority and amend 
their documents accordingly.  Failure to conform to these standards will result in 
rejection of the proposal.  
 
This contract shall be governed by and constructed in accordance with the laws of the 
state of Arkansas.  Arkansas Tech University is an agency of the state of Arkansas and 
the state and its agencies are protected from suit by sovereign immunity.  Nothing in this 
contract is intended to nor shall it waive this sovereign immunity.  Any provision of this 
contract in conflict with the laws of the state of Arkansas is null and void. 
 
The Vendor shall indemnify and hold harmless the University, its officers, and its 
employees from all claims, suits, actions, damages, and costs of every nature and 
description arising out of or resulting from the contract or the provision of services 
thereunder. 
 
The University will cooperate with the Vendor in the defense of any action or claim 
brought against the Vendor seeking damages or relief for any loss, expense, damage, 
liability, claim, or demand either at law or in equity for actual or alleged injuries to 
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persons or property arising from any negligent act or omission by the University or its 
employees or agents in performance of this contract.  The University also will cooperate 
in good faith with the Vendor should the Vendor present any claims of the 
aforementioned nature against the University to the Arkansas State Claims Commission 
and will make reasonable effort to expedite any hearing or other action before the 
Commission.  However, the University reserves the right to assert in good faith any and 
all claims and defenses available to it in any such proceedings before the Commission or 
other appropriate forum.   
 
Additionally: 
 
A. The State of Arkansas may not contract with another party to: 
 

1. Indemnify and defend that party for any liability and damages.  However, the 
University may agree to hold other party harmless from any loss or claim 
resulting directly from and attributable to the University’s use or possession of 
equipment or software and reimburse the party for the loss caused solely by the 
University’s use or possession. 

 
2. Upon default, to pay all sums to become due under the contract. 
 
3. Pay damages, legal expenses or other costs and expenses of any party. 
 

 
B. A party wishing to contract with Arkansas Tech University must: 
 

1. Remove any language from its contract that grants remedies other than: 
- The right to possession. 
- The right to accrued payment. 

 
2. Include in its contract language specifying that the laws of the State of Arkansas 

govern the contract. 
 
3. Acknowledge in writing that contracts with the University become effective when 

awarded. 
 
11.  COST FOR PROPOSAL PREPARATION.  The University will not reimburse 
any proposer’s costs incurred in the preparation and submission of proposals. 
 
 
12. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF AMENDMENTS.  Proposers should acknowledge 
receipt of amendments by e-mail within 48 hours of receipt.  Failure to provide such 
acknowledgement may be grounds for disqualification. 
 
13. FURTHER INFORMATION.  Proposers are cautioned that the University is not 
obligated to ask for or accept after the opening date, data which is essential for a 
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complete and thorough evaluation of the proposal.  However, should the University 
request additional information, either written or oral, the Vendor must provide.  Refusal 
to honor such requests may result in rejection of the proposal.  The University may award 
a contract based on initial submissions without any further discussion of such proposals.  
Accordingly, each proposal should be submitted in the most favorable and complete 
terms possible. 
 
14. PROPRIETARY INFORMATION.  Proposals and documents pertaining to this 
RFP become the property of the University and shall be open to public inspection 
following the proposal opening, excluding proprietary information as exempted by law.  
Proprietary information submitted in response to this RFP must be separately packaged, 
sealed, and clearly labeled “PROPRIETARY”.  Financial data, trade secrets, test data, 
and similar proprietary information will, to the extent permitted by law, remain 
confidential provided such material is clearly so marked by the proposer prior to 
submission.  
 
15. EXAMINATION OF RECORDS.  The Vendor agrees that the University or its 
duly authorized representatives shall at any time during the term of this contract have 
access to, and the right to audit and examine any pertinent records of the Vendor related 
to this contract.  The Vendor shall retain such records for a period of no less than five (5) 
years from the date the records are made, unless the University authorizes earlier 
disposition.  The Vendor agrees to refund to the University any underpayments or 
overcharges disclosed by audit or to take other acceptable corrective action. 
 
16. PERMITS AND LICENSES.  The Vendor will obtain and maintain at its expense, 
and in its name, all necessary licenses and permits required to perform the services 
described herein. 
 
 
17. REQUIRED VENDOR INFORMATION AND SUCCESSFUL VENDOR’S 
RESPONSIBILITIES. 
 
Vendors submitting a response to this RFP must provide the following supplemental 
information: 
 

a. A minimum of three (3) references for which the Vendor has provided services 
similar in scope and complexity to those sought herein by the University. 

 
b. Copies of independently audited financial statements for its most recent two (2) 

fiscal years.  Additionally, copies of any regulatory reports containing any 
limitations currently imposed upon the Vendor as a result of examinations by or 
agreements with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), the United 
States Federal Reserve, the Comptroller of the Currency, or any other regulatory 
agency.  
 

c. A narrative description of its current organizational structure and history. 
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The successful Vendor shall have the following responsibilities: 
 

 Shall be financially responsible for obtaining all permits, licenses, and 
bonding requirements to comply with all applicable city, county, state, or 
federal laws and regulations and shall assume liability for all applicable taxes. 

 Agree to comply with all federal and state laws and regulations applicable. 
 Agree to provide the University's designated representatives and auditors 

access to all records pertinent to the University's transactions and accounts as 
needed and at mutually acceptable times. 

 
18. REQUIRED SERVICES.  The University requests proposals from qualified vendors 
for credit card processing services encompassing the following: 
 
Credit Card Payment Processing – The University currently accepts VISA, 
MasterCard, and Discover cards. We anticipate to accept American Express at a later 
date. The University processes credit card payments through card readers and via the 
Web. The University requires multiple merchant numbers to accommodate its 
operations.  Information concerning the University's credit card activities is included as 
Appendix A. 
 
 
Respondents must provide information, including responses to questions, regarding 
service capabilities as requested below. 
 
Merchant Credit Card Processing 
  

1. Describe your company’s authorization method, list and describe alternative 
authorization methods. 
 

2. What authorization methods do you support and which do you recommend for 
each processing channel?  
 

3. What are the procedures to reverse an incorrect authorization? 
 

4. Describe the monitoring and notification process if a transmission fails. 
 

5. Outline the security measures in place for the protection of data transmitted for 
processing. 
 

6. Describe the security measures used to prevent unauthorized user access to the 
system or data.  If applicable, please indicate if there has ever been a compromise 
to any credit card systems or application through a security breach.  If yes, explain 
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the process your company took to notify customers, the steps taken to protect the 
customer’s data and the safeguards put in place to prevent it in the future. 
 

7. What are your daily workflow deadlines and when are funds credited to a 
merchant’s account? 

8. Can gross settlements be credited to the bank account daily? Can discounts and 
interchange fees be settled the subsequent month with a separate invoice?  

 
Merchant Credit Card Processing Capabilities  

9. Can you provide next day settlement for Visa, MasterCard, AMEX and Discover 
Card network transactions?  If not, what settlement schedules do you offer for 
each network? What factors will you consider in order to provide a more 
favorable schedule? 

10. What is the latest time that sales transactions can be transmitted to meet these 
settlement times? 

11. How is settlement made by your organization? Please provide details.  Is 
settlement made by direct account credit, ACH or Fedwire? 

12. Please describe how settlement amounts will be listed on the bank statement or 
will they appear as one lump sum (meaning one amount for Visa, MasterCard, 
and Discover Card, one amount for American Express)?   

13. Describe how you support BIN (Bank Information Number) file management to 
differentiate between debit card and credit card transactions? 

14. What process do you use to ensure that transactions qualify for the lowest 
interchange category?  Please describe in detail. 

15. Describe how your merchant credit card processing system identifies and 
eliminates duplicate transactions? 

16. What are the procedures to correct duplicate transactions?  Please provide details. 

17. Are there limitations on the number of files/transactions: 
a. Number of transactions contained in a batch?  
b. Number of files transmitted daily? 

 
18. Are credit card chargebacks or other debit adjustments netted from daily 

proceeds, or are they debited separately?  Please describe your Chargeback 
process in details. 
 

19. Provide a price schedule for the services described in the RFP and any other 
unspecified costs required to provide the service on Section VIII, Appendix B.  
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Describe the firm’s overall pricing structure. Is the firm offering a fixed cost plus 
surcharge fee or an interchange plus fee? 
 

20. List and define transaction fees for authorization, settlement, network, 
communications and any other fees on Attachment? Include any one-time or set 
up charges, research fees and include all other fees or charges that will or could be 
charged (e.g., interchange rates, regular and ad hoc reporting costs). The State 
Treasurer’s Office will not be obligated to pay for any fees not specified in the 
proposal. 
 

21. Detail any change in association fees (Visa and MC) that would be charged 
through the program from the published interchange rates of these companies.   
 

Online Information Reporting Services 
22. Describe all reports available and the software used to receive and view reports. 

Provide an overview of reporting cycles, procedures, and capabilities. Provide a 
sample of each detail and summary report available or a link to sample reports 
online.  
 

23. Are reports or other information available via the Internet, PC access, or other 
online method? 

24. Define the download capabilities, level of customization, and drill down 
capabilities available on online reporting and reports. Describe the daily and/or 
monthly reconciliation reports available to the merchant and provide sample 
reports. The following categories need to be defined: 

a) standard reports (transaction reports, funding reports, etc.) 
b) special reporting capabilities 
c) level of detail available 
d) retrieval capabilities 
e) imaging capabilities 
f) reporting frequency 

 
25. Does your firm have the capability of providing reports segregated by each state 

agency for 12 months?  Please describe in detail. 
 

26. Describe how multiple merchant numbers are reported and the flexibility afforded 
the merchant for customizing the reports. Can the merchant “roll up” specific 
groups for reporting independent of other groups? 
 

27. Do reports encompass/include AMEX and Discover transactions for 
reconciliation and research purposes? 
 

28. Is your online information reporting system owned and operated internally or is 
the system outsourced through a third party?  If through a third party, please 
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identify the third party.   Are improvements and changes to the service controlled 
by the bank or a third party? 

29. Can your firm provide a download of historical information regarding 
transactions, refunds, and chargebacks maintained in a database for access by the 
merchant?  If so, what access method is available?  Please describe in detail. 

30. How many business days of transaction data is stored on the reporting system and 
available for the customer to access?   

31. Describe your capability to store and retrieve transaction information, including 
signatures for bank card transactions and non-bank card transactions? If so, do 
you have a system that will enable OST to retrieve and receive this information 
online, provide details?  

32. Describe the daily and/or monthly reconciliation reports available to OST. 

33. Describe your company’s capability to track credit card transactions for each state 
agency, creating an audit trail to be used by system administrators or supervisors. 

 
Card Acceptance/Interface Processing 

34. Describe the hardware necessary for acceptance of credit and debit cards (a) with 
card present and (b) card not present, (c) using an IVR application, (d) via e-
Commerce (internet), and (e) pin-based debit. 
 

35. Does the firm provide the equipment on a lease or purchase basis? Do you offer 
an equipment maintenance plan? If so, what is the turnaround time and costs 
involved? 
 

36. Describe in detail how your firm can process transactions from various gateways? 
Provide a list of all payment gateways supported and address all fees for setup, 
monthly recurring charges and per transactions fees on the Pricing Schedule, 
Section VIII - Attachment B. 
 

37. Describe the process to add additional third party gateways. 

Third-Party Processing 
38. Explain your company’s role; are you an acquirer, processor, other?   

 
39. Do you rely on third parties to process your merchant credit card transactions?  If 

so, explain and provide the years of service you have been doing business with 
them and describe your relationship with your third party processor. 
 

40. Describe in detail how your services are integrated to/with third party software, 
websites and gateways? 
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41. Identify your payment gateway provider and the number of years you have had a 

relationship with them. 
 
Statutory/Regulatory or Card Association Rules 

42. Do you foresee any statutory, regulatory or card association rule modifications 
that will change merchant credit card processing industry?   

43. What is your firm’s approach on providing input into policy rules or regulatory 
changes related to credit and debit cards? What have been the results of your 
activity? 

Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards 
44. Describe your PCI-DSS compliance status and program?  

  
45. How do you maintain your compliance with the PCI standards?  

46. Is your organization and all of your contractors, subcontractors and third-party 
processors, in compliance with all applicable PCI DSS standards? Have you been 
certified as compliant by a qualified third-party assessor?  Please name the 
assessor.  

47.  What is your role in supporting merchant PCI compliance and how do you help a 
merchant like the university maintain its compliance? 

 
Alternative Payment Services 

48. Discuss optional and alternative payment services that you believe may help the 
university expand merchant credit card payment options for state agencies.  A few 
alternative payment options that are of interest are: 
 

a) Mobile Payments 
1. Does your mobile reporting service work on the iPhone, Android Phones 

and/or Blackberry Phones? Also, iPad?  
2. What software (names and version numbers) is required to use your 

mobile reporting services?  
3. How many customers do you have using your mobile merchant 

card processing product? How many transactions are you 
processing monthly?  How many dollars are processed monthly? 
 

b) Contactless Payment Cards/Wallet Solutions i.e. MasterCard PayPass 
c) Marketing and promotion campaigns to increase adoption of merchant 

credit card payments. 

Implementation 
49. Provide a detailed description of the implementation process, including testing 

and a suggested implementation schedule.  The Implementation Schedule must 
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outline the milestone dates to accomplish and should include detailed tasks, dates 
and resources assigned and identified for each milestone. 

 
50. Describe support provided during implementation, including training, technical 

assistance, user manuals and on-site visits.   
 

51. Describe support provided after implementation. 
 

19.  FEES AND OTHER CHARGES 
 

 
Respondent must provide a merchant fee schedule based on the activity and volume as 
described in Section VIII, Appendix A, including the following: 
 

a) Setup Fee 
b) Monthly Maintenance 
c) Monthly Minimum Discount  
d) Chargeback Fee 
e) Authorization Fee should include American Express & Discover/Novus card Brands 

and Diners Club/Carte Blanche/JCB 
f) Online Access Fee 
g) Return Fee 
h) Wireless Fee 
i) Wireless Authorization Fee 
j) And any other fees  

 
The fees and charges presented in this proposal shall remain firm for one year and renewed 
on the same terms and conditions for four (4) year term of the contract with the following 
exceptions that shall be adjusted to reflect increases or decreases in all applicable rates, fees, 
and assessments established by MasterCard and VISA Interchange rates.  The merchant 
service provider shall notify the Oklahoma State Treasurer’s office thirty (30) days prior to 
the effective date of any change of exclusions or service fee increases or decreases.  Fees not 
identified by the contractor in their original proposal shall not be considered at any time 
during the remaining tenure of the contract.   
 
 
 
20.  EVALUATION AND SELECTION CRITERIA.  The selection of a service 
provider under this contract shall be based on the University’s assessment of the 
Vendor’s ability to provide the services requested in this RFP and the costs associated 
with providing these services.  The following evaluation criteria will include but not 
limited to: 
 

a. Experience of the account manager who is assigned to the university    
b. Experience of the firm with colleges and universities 
c. References 
d. Pricing 
e. Overall Proposal completeness 
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21.  SUBMITTALS 
 
Responses to this Request for Qualifications must be received by 4:00 p.m., September 
23, 2016, to be considered. 
 
Send one original hard copy and three (3) electronic copies of the response, 
preferably on flash drives.   
 
Submittals are to be delivered to: 
Procurement Office 
Young Building, Suite 101 
203 West O Street  
Russellville, AR 72801 
Attn: Jessica Holloway, APO, Director 
RFQ 16-166 
 
Late responses, responses en route, or those left at locations other than the Procurement 
Office will not be considered.  
 
 
MINORITY BUSINESS POLICY: It is the policy of the State of Arkansas and this 
university that Minority Business Enterprises shall have the maximum opportunity to 
participate in the State Procurement process.  Therefore, the University encourages all 
minority businesses to compete for, win, and receive contracts for goods, services, and 
construction.  Also, the State encourages all companies to subcontract portions of any 
state contract to Minority Business Enterprises. If contractors are unable to include 
minority owned businesses as subcontractors, they may explain the circumstances 
preventing minority exclusion. 
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Statement History            Appendix A 
 

Dates XXX TOTAL VISA/MC DISCOVER AM/EX  

Sales 11,098,874.61 10,470,451.57 628,423.04 N/A  

# of 
Transactions 

20,876 19,986 890   

Average Trans. 532 524 706   

# of Locations 3 3 3   

Type: 
Pin, Business, 
hand-keyed, 
online 

Online: 
5,320,404.54 
Remainder in 
person 

Online: 
4,955,671.54 
Remainder in 
person 

Online: 
388,818.05 
Remainder on 
person 
 

  

Qualified      

NOT Qualified      

Other      

      

 


